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PROCEEDINGS

(Transcript continues in sequence from Volume 13.)

CHAIRMAN CARTER: We are back on the record. And
when we left, I believe it's -- Mr. Moyle, you're up.

MR. MOYLE: Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We
would call witness Tom Herndon to the stand, and he has not yet
been sworn.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Okay. Any of the other witnesses,
Mr. Pollock and Mr. O'Donnell and Mr. -- now Mr. Murry has been
sworn. But if Mr. Pollock and Mr. O'Donnell, are they here?
Would you please stand so we can swear you in as a group.

(Witnesses collectively sworn.)

Thank you. Please be seated.

JOHN TOM HERNDON
was called as a witness on behalf of the Florida Industrial
Power Users Group, the Mosaic Company, and the Florida Retail
Federation and, having been duly sworn, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. MOYLE:
Q Good morning, Mr. Herndon. Would you please state
your full name for the record.
A Yes. My full name, excuse me, my full name is John
T. Tom Herndon.
Q And are you the same Tom Herndon who prepared and

filed 20 pages of direct testimony on behalf of FIPUG and the

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
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Florida Retail Federation in this case?

A Yes, I am.

Q And a copy of your resume was provided with your

testimony; correct?

A Correct.
Q Okay. That is for the record presently marked as
Exhibit 54.

Mr. Herndon, if I were to ask you the questions that
are contained in the direct testimony that you prefiled, would
your answers to those questions be the same?

A Yes.
Q Have you prepared a summary of your testimony?

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Mr. Moyle, you want to enter it
into the record?

MR. MOYLE: Yes. Yes, please. I would like to enter
Mr. Herndon's prefiled testimony with the exhibit into the
record as though read.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: The prefiled testimony of the
witness will be entered into the record as though read. And
for the record, recognition of, for identification purposes,

Exhibit Number 54.

(Exhibit 54 marked for identification.)

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

002157

Introduction

Please state your name and where you reside.

My name is Tom Herndon and I live in Tallahassee, Florida.

On whose behalf are you providing testimony in this matter?

I am testifying on behalf of entities which represent electric customers of Tampa
Electric Company. Specifically, I am testifying on behalf of the Florida Industrial
Power Users Group (FIPUG), the Mosaic Company (Mosaic), and the Florida Retail
Federation (FRF). FIPUG represents the interests of a number of large industrial
businesses, who take service from Tampa Electric Company (Tampa Electric).
Mosaic is a large company that mines phosphate and produces fertilizer and receives
electrical service from Tampa Electric. FRF is a trade organization with over 10,000

retail business members, many of whom take service from Tampa Electric.

Summary of Recommendations

What recommendations do you make to the Commission in your testimony?
After discussing current financial conditions, I recommend that:

The Commission adopt a Return on Equity (ROE) for Tampa Electric of 7.5%; the
12% ROE Tampa Electric seeks is out of line with current market conditions and its
low risk profile;

The Commission not place undue reliance on computer models to determine ROE in

these unusual economic times; and
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The Commission reject the notion that somehow a higher ROE for Tampa Electric

benefits ratepayers.

Professional Experience in the Financial Arena

Please provide a description of your past financial experience.

I have enjoyed a long career in public service in the state of Florida that started in
1969. I have attached my resume as Exhibit No. _ (TH-1) to my testimony.
However, I’d like to briefly summarize some roles in which I have served the state
that are particularly relevant to my testimony in this case.

I was Staff Director for the House of Representatives Appropriations
Committee from 1978 to 1980. After that, I served for nearly five years as the
Director of the Governor’s Office of Planning and Budgeting. In that position I was
responsible for advising the Governor on a multitude of budgeting and financial
matters.

I served as Chief of Staff to Governor Graham and Governor Chiles. I served
on the Florida Public Service Commission from 1986 to 1990. In the early 1990s, I
was the Executive Director of the Florida Department of Revenue. My last position
with the State of Florida was as Executive Director of the Florida State Board of

Administration from 1996 until 2002.

What do you do presently?

I work part time providing consulting services for a handful of clients and serve on

select boards.
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Can you describe your duties and responsibilities as the Executive Director of
the Florida State Board of Administration in more detail?
[ was selected by the Governor, Comptroller and Treasurer, who were the Trustees of
the State Board of Administration (“SBA”™), to lead and manage the state’s pension
fund as well as approximately one dozen other investment accounts. As Executive
Director of the SBA, I was responsible to the Governor and Trustees, as well as the
beneficiaries of the state’s pension fund, for prudently managing the fund’s assets.
During the six years I led the SBA (from 1996 to 2002) the SBA had over
$100 billion dollars under active management and ranked in the top ten largest (based
on assets under management) pension funds in the world. As SBA Executive
Director, I was charged with overseeing and managing the state’s investment policies

and practices as well as providing regular financial reports to the Governor and the

other trustees.

Please discuss your financial expertise, particularly the expertise you gained
during your service as Executive Director of the SBA.

I have gained financial experience and expertise during the course of my professional
responsibilities. ~ While serving as Staff Director of the Florida House of
Representatives Appropriations Committee, I gained considerable expertise in the
state budgeting processes, including how the state uses debt, current revenue or

reserves to fund state government operations. I also gained a thorough understanding
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of the business of Florida’s state government, its functions and how it funds its
operations.

When I served as a Public Service Commissioner, I gained financial expertise
in regulating and reviewing financial matters involving public utilities, including
electric utilities, water and waste water utilities, and telecommunications companies.

When I served as the Director of the Office of Policy and Budget under
Governor Graham, I was involved with many financial matters, including preparing
and recommending a complete state budget to the Legislature, advising the Governor
on a broad range of economic issues, and working with state economists on future
economic projections. During this time, I also had regular contact and interaction
with other state offices, such as the Division of Bond Finance, concerning the
issuance of state bonds. I met with rating agencies to provide input for risk analysis
associated with state debt ratings.

When I served as Executive Director of the SBA, my central focus was
management of the state’s $100 billion pension fund and ensuring a reasonable return
on invested dollars. During this time, I met and interacted with Wall Street
investment advisors, fund managers, key executives of publicly traded companies,
rating services, and others who were involved in a host of financial matters. I also
gained a thorough understanding of risk and its relationship to reasonable returns.
During this period, I also chaired the Council of Institutional Investors and interacted
with the Securities and Exchange Commission and Congress on Pension Reform
Assessment. [ also served on the Pension Advisory Committee to the New York

Stock Exchange.
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Are you still involved with the SBA?

No, not in any official capacity. However, I was recently appointed by Governor
Crist, Chief Financial Officer Sink, and Attorney General McCollum to a committee
which was charged with soliciting, interviewing and recommending candidates to
serve as the new SBA Executive Director. In addition, I generally keep up with SBA

activities and policies.

Are you currently involved in managing and investing money?

Yes.

Please describe your current involvement.
Currently I serve on the Board of Directors of the Helios Education Foundation. I am
the Treasurer and Chairman of the Finance and Investment Committee. This
Committee is responsible for managing and investing approximately $500 million
dollars in a perpetual foundation portfolio. We manage domestic and international
equities and fixed income exposure and until the recent downturn, were quite
successful.

In addition to my work with Helios, I also serve on the Finance Committee of
Capital Health Plan, a large Tallahassee-based Health Maintenance Organization
(HMO). As a member of that committee, I help oversee the investment of over $200

million in assets.
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Purpose of Testimony

What is the purpose of your testimony?

My testimony focuses largely on financial issues, including the closely related issues
of risk, investor expectations, the current economic climate, and the fact that Tampa
Electric operates as a monopoly provider of an essential service, effectively free of
competition, in a very low risk regulatory environment. More specifically I will
discuss how these factors should impact the return on equity that the Commission will

authorize for purposes of setting Tampa Electric’s rates in this case.

My testimony will also discuss the models Tampa Electric witness Donald
Murry references in his direct testimony and why those models should be given less
weight in today’s economic climate. I will comment on the suggestion of Tampa
Electric witness Susan Abbott that approval of the rate increase Tampa Electric seeks
should result in an A rating from the rating agencies and why this view is erroneous.

Finally, I will discuss the notion that permitting Tampa Electric to earn a
higher return on equity will somehow benefit ratepayers by reducing its borrowing

costs. I will explain why this is not the case.

Current Market Conditions

Please comment on current financial market conditions as it relates to Tampa
Electric.

As witness Murry pointed out, we are in the midst of severe economic upheaval.
However, many of the economic factors he identified in his direct testimony have

changed since his testimony was filed. For example, interest rates are at an all time
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low and no sign of increases are in sight. Oil prices have fallen to below $60 per
barrel -- drastically below the rate witness Murry cites. Consumer confidence
continues to fall and unemployment continues to rise.

While there may be some reasons to believe that the U.S. economy and the
world economy will be well on their way to recovery by sometime in 2009, regardless
of whether this turns out to be the case or not, the fact that Tampa Electric has a very
high degree of revenue certainty and very low risk makes its common stock an

attractive investment.

Have current economic conditions affected the credit markets?

Yes, but while credit markets are in turmoil for some borrowers, funds are available
at reasonable rates for high quality borrowers. World-wide recognition of the
economic catastrophe has occurred and as a result virtually every developed nation
has adopted some form of an economic bailout package. The United States led this
effort with its $700 billion dollar bailout plan. While the volatility in the markets

continues, there are some reasons to feel more confident.

Does the economic picture impact investment expectations?

Yes. Investors as a rule seek safety and security in times of economic stress and that
is certainly true today. Clear evidence of that trend can be seen in the higher value
investors have put on utility stocks and debt. While all sectors of the U.S. economy
have been damaged in the recent upheaval, utility stocks have been treated better

overall than the broader indexes. Ultility debt ratings have also been treated better



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

002164

than many other sectors. This preferred treatment for utility debt reflects the higher
regard investors have for the utility sector. The proverbial “flight to quality” once
again seems to be in play and utility companies are beneficiaries of this trend,
because, as noted above, money is available to well-regarded borrowers. Quite a bit
of anecdotal evidence exists to show that for these well-regarded borrowers, lenders
are stepping up to make loans at competitive rates --- certainly, much below the 12%

ROE level Tampa Electric has requested.

On what do you base this view?

As I mentioned, I remain active in providing advice and recommendations regarding
managing and investing funds. It is my observation that well-qualified borrowers can
obtain credit at reasonable costs. That is not to suggest that for every borrower credit
can be easily obtained; however, for an organization as well-regarded as Tampa
Electric, especially where the company is a monopoly that operates in a very low risk
regulatory environment, raising both debt and equity capital should not be overly

problematic.

In your opinion, should Tampa Electric be able to secure debt at competitive
rates?

Yes. Tampa Electric enjoys ratings from the major rating agencies which qualifies its
debt as investment grade. Investors are more comfortable with investment grade
debt, while many investors shy away from the debt products of companies that do not

have investment grade ratings.
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In your opinion, should the Commission feel confident that Tampa Electric can
obtain equity capital, i.e., that investors will invest in TECO Energy’s common
stock, if the Commission sets Tampa Electric’s revenue requirements and rates
using an authorized rate of return on equity with a midpoint of 7.5%?

Yes. The Commission should feel completely confident that Tampa Electric can raise
needed equity capital with its revenues and rates set using an ROE of 7.5%. This is
because investors understand the fundamental security of their investments in Tampa
Electric and other Florida utilities. That security comes from the very low risks that
Tampa Electric faces with its monopoly position as well as the fact that it provides a
necessity, with the routine, secure, virtually certain recovery of well over half its total

costs through cost recovery clauses.

Tampa Electric’s Risk As A Regulated Utility

Please comment on the relative risk confronting Tampa Electric, as a regulated
utility, when compared to other business sectors.

The risk that Tampa Electric faces is much less than businesses in other sectors. Due
to its monopoly status, Tampa Electric does not have to compete for customers in an
open market. It enjoys a defined geographic market and has a government-created
and government-protected monopoly in that market. And for the most part, its
customers are captive — if they want electric service, they must buy it from Tampa
Electric. Indeed, Tampa Electric witness Murry references “market power” as the

basis for utility regulation. Such monopoly power greatly reduces the risk Tampa



i 002186
l 1 Electric faces. Obviously, Tampa Electric does not compete with other electric
l 2 companies (or anyone else) to serve its customers.
3 In contrast to the market position of Tampa Electric, we are all familiar with
l 4 the effects and risk of competition in competitive business sectors. For example,
l 5 DHL is exiting the parcel delivery business in the United States, in part, due to
6 competitive pressures from UPS and FedEx. In the auto industry, in part due to multi-
. 7 national competition, U.S. companies are suffering and seeking funds from Congress
l 8 to sustain their operations. The national electronic retailer, Circuit City, has recently
9 filed for bankruptcy protection.
l 10 The examples of competitive risk that most U.S. businesses face are countless;
l 11 however, this is not the case with Tampa Electric. Too a very large extent, Tampa
12 Electric faces no market driven competitive risks. Investors and Wall Street are well
l 13 aware of this. This is the key reason that utility stocks and bonds have long been a
' 14 safe haven for investors.
15
' 16 Q. Doesn’t Tampa Electric still have to address and manage risk?
l 17 A Yes. Tampa Electric, as well as other regulated monopoly utilities, has to manage
18 risk. The utility business is not completely risk free. For example, Congress could
l 19 enact additional environmental requirements that could affect the electric utility
' 20 industry. My point is that Tampa Electric’s risk profile is reduced significantly
' 21 because Tampa Electric does not face competition in the marketplace and because the
22 current regulatory system in Florida ensures that it recovers a very high percentage of
i
i o
i
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its total costs on a current basis through the various “cost recovery” or pass-through

clauses.

Does this reduced risk affect investment expectations?

Yes. Reduction in risk is tied to market/investor expectations of return on investment
or return on equity. Less risk equals lower return expectations. As discussed above, in
today’s market environment, investors want: quality, reduced volatility, security, and
reasonable prospects for safety going forward. Very few stocks or bonds offer this

combination of benefits, other than a quality utility like Tampa Electric.

Are you familiar with the regulatory framework in which Tampa Electric
operates?
Yes, I am directly familiar with the regulatory environment in which Tampa Electric

operates due to my tenure as a Public Service Commissioner.

How Tampa Electric’s costs currently recovered?
A significant portion of Tampa Electric’s annual operating expenses are recovered
through special clauses rather than through base rates. While I do not wish to suggest
that I am an expert in the detailed operation of all of the current regulatory tools the
Florida Commission uses, many of them — such as the fuel adjustment clause -- were
in place during my tenure on the Commission.

It is my understanding that currently fuel expenses and purchased power

expenses are recovered through the fuel clause; capacity costs are recovered through

11
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the capacity cost recovery clause; energy conservation costs are recovered through
the conservation cost recovery clause, environmental costs may be recovered through
the environmental clause; and hurricane expenses may be recouped though a
hurricane recovery clause. In addition, gross receipts taxes and franchise fees are
recovered as line items on customer bills, thus eliminating the risk of recovery for
those items as well. These recovery mechanisms further reduce the risk Tampa
Electric faces and lessen the risk of a prospective investor.

Billions of dollars flow through these clauses every year, and Tampa Electric
has virtually no exposure to any risk of non recovery for these expenses because they
are directly picked up by the ratepayers. Even when such expenses increase, Tampa
Electric has the ability to seek a mid-course correction and recover such actual and
projected cost overruns in between annual fuel adjustment proceedings. Thus, given

the reduction in risk, there should be a commensurate reduction in the expected return

on equity.

What is your understanding of how the investment community views this
regulatory framework?

In addition to serving as a Florida Public Service Commissioner, I have kept abreast
of the Florida regulatory environment as someone charged with managing money.
The investment community views the Florida regulatory environment quite favorably.
The Florida Commission is viewed as responsive to the needs of the entities it
regulates and has numerous mechanisms in place to prevent “regulatory lag.”

Witness Abbott’s testimony confirms this point. Ms. Abbott notes in Exhibit 3 to her

12
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direct testimony that no other Commission in the country is ranked more favorably

than the Florida Commission.

Does this view of the Florida Commission affect Tampa Electric’s risk profile?

Yes and it reinforces the fundamental point I made above. Tampa Electric operates in
a reduced risk environment. This reduced investor risk translates into lower ROE
expectations. Simply put, the favorable regulatory environment and Tampa Electric’s

reduced risk argues against the inflated 12% ROE Tampa Electric seeks.

What about the suggestion that the Commission has to keep Tampa Electric's
authorized ROE at a high level to ensure that investors continue to view Tampa
Electric as a low-risk investment that they are willing to invest their equity
capital in?

In my opinion, such a suggestion is misplaced and overstated. The Commission
already ensures that Tampa Electric operates in a low-risk environment that ensures
Tampa Electric of prompt, secure, and for all intents and purposes, certain recovery of
well over half of its costs on a current basis, and Tampa Electric faces no competitive

pressure and extremely low risk with regard to recovering its base rate revenues.

Reasonable and Fair Return on Equity

What do you believe is a reasonable return on equity for Tampa Electric given

your discussion above?

13
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For many of the reasons I have discussed, I believe that a fair return on common stock
equity in Tampa Electric Company would be in the range of 7% to 8%, with 7.5%
being the midpoint of the range that the Commission should use for purposes of
determining Tampa Electric’s allowed revenue requirements and setting its retail
rates.. My perspective on this issue is based on my experience and informed by the
behavior of the stock market and those investment activities with which I am familiar,

particularly in the public pension area.

Traditionally, most public pension funds have an actuarially required rate of
return in the 7.5% to 8.5 % range. This allows for a real rate of return over inflation
and for some modest growth while at the same time recognizing that withdrawals are

occurring. In fact, the Florida State Board of Administration has long held to an 8%
target and the other two foundation boards I have worked with have lower rate of
return targets.

I realize that using these benchmarks is not the same as calculating the return
through computer models. However, they serve as useful proxies for what is prevalent
in the investment world. I dare say that Tampa Electric itself has similar targets for its
internal assets under management as well as for its various pension funds.

The reason that I believe that a fair rate of return would use 7.5% as the
midpoint is that for investors to reach the 8+% target requires a considerable equity
allocation -- typically over 60% of the portfolio would have to be invested in equities.
That strikes me as unnecessarily high for a regulated utility so the target I suggest

reflects a more modest equity allocation.

14
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Does the SBA have a targeted return on capital it invests, and if so, what is that
target?

Historically, the SBA seeks a target in the 8% neighborhood, but does so with a
healthy mix of exposure to stocks, many of which are investments in companies faced
with intense industry competition not seen in a business sector comprised of regulated

electric utility monopolies, like Tampa Electric.

How does the rate of return that you are recommending in this case compare to
investment opportunities with less risk?
My recommended rate of return on equity compares very, very favorably to
investments with lower risk. In financial management, we normally recognize the
interest rate on long-term U.S. Treasury bonds as being the "risk-free rate."
Recently, the interest rate on long-term — 30 year — U.S. Treasury bonds has been in
the range of 4.0% to 4.3%; currently, the rate is below 4.0%. In the most practical
terms, considering the very-low-risk environment in which Tampa Electric operates,
as a monopoly with virtual certainty of recovering well over half of its operating
costs and very little risk with regard to its base rates, a 7.5% return on equity is very
favorable when compared to the "risk-free rate."

Stated differently, in practical terms, I am recommending a return on equity
that is almost double the "risk-free rate." Again in practical, common sense terms,

there is no way that Tampa Electric faces risks that justify any higher return than this.

15
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Tampa Electric Witness Murry

Have you reviewed the direct testimony of Tampa Electric witness Murry?

Yes.

What is your view on the economic outlook witness Murry offers in his direct
testimony?

While there are risks facing the credit and capital markets, the current picture and the
forecast appear to be less dire than what witness Murry has assumed based on the
information available to him at that time. Many view the fact that energy prices have
fallen drastically and that interest rates, both short and long term, are lower, as signs
that the economy may be improving. Inflation has moderated and with the
Presidential election behind us, more certainty exists in the market. All in all, many

of the economic indicators witness Murry relied upon have improved.

Given the current market conditions you have discussed, what is your opinion
regarding witness Murry’s view that a return on equity of 12% is reasonable for
Tampa Electric?
I have several thoughts regarding witness Murry’s proposed 12% ROE.

First, many of the key underlying inputs to the formulas he used are no longer
valid. Interest rates, oil prices, and inflation rates are all significantly below the
levels witness Murry relied upon in his direct testimony. These decreases in rates and

prices produce different investor conclusions about the relative risks and returns

16
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associated with Tampa Electric. If the witness intends to rely on mechanistic
formulas, the inputs should at a minimum be current and valid.

Second, while I would not quarrel with witness Murry’s formulaic approach in
a NORMAL investment environment, that is not where we find ourselves today.
Many analysts have likened the current economic upheaval to the financial
devastation of the 1920s. While that may be an overstatement, there is no denying
that we are not experiencing normal economic conditions. Given these unusual
financial conditions, the mechanical application of formulas simply isn’t adequate
and should not be the beginning and ending of an ROE analysis. Common sense and
a more thoughtful awareness of the market, coupled with some use of the technical
analytics, is the approach called for today.

Finally, it is clear that a lender or an investor in today’s climate would prefer
to lend to a monopoly client with historically steady and stable growth, a guaranteed
rate of return, substantial assets (in the form of infrastructure and rolling stocks), and
the ability to recover a large degree of its operating costs annually through recovery

clauses.

Rating Agencies and the Suggestion of Witness Abbott that Approval of Tampa
Electric’s Rate Request Will result in an A level Rating

Have you reviewed the direct testimony of Susan Abbott?

A. Yes.

17
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Witness Abbott provides testimony regarding the rating agencies that follow
Tampa Electric. Ms. Abbot suggests in her direct testimony at page 27 that
“la]pproval of TECO’s requested rate increase should improve its credit metrics
and in an A level profile.” Can you comment on her conclusion?

In general, I agree with witness Abbott’s testimony that improved credit matrices
should improve the credit rating of a company and that should lower borrowing costs;
however, I would make two points that modify this conclusion.

First, recent experience with organizations like Standard & Poor’s and
Moody’s amply demonstrates that their work is art, not science. We are all too
familiar with the various mistakes credit rating agencies have made that in part, led us
to the current financial situation. To suggest that an “A” level profile will
automatically result from a certain ROE takes too much for granted.

Second, while the actions and “grades” of the rating agencies can be valuable
aides in investment and loan decisions, they are not the final answer. Common sense
and thoughtful awareness of market conditions must also be considered. Tampa
Electric’s circumstances, including its low risk profile, the positive regulatory climate
in Florida, the solid earnings path and stable growth forecast, do not support a 12%

ROE.

Some have suggested that allowing Tampa Electric a 12% ROE may benefit
ratepayers by lowering borrowing costs. Do you agree with this?
No. I do not believe that allowing an elevated ROE benefits ratepayers. Any

reduction in borrowing costs would likely be a slight incremental amount and would
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not offset the increased revenue requirements for ratepayers if a 12% ROE were to be
authorized. Customers would be worse off because they would be paying higher rates
than necessary. This is especially the case when, as the Commission is well aware,
individual consumers, commercial consumers, and governmental and institutional
consumers, such as school districts, are struggling to pay their electric bills.
And of course, the cost of electricity affects the production costs and the
ability to compete of industrial consumers, such as FIPUG’s participating companies.
In this time of great economic uncertainty, the Commission needs to be
mindful of the role that energy costs play in the lives of individuals and businesses.
With virtually every business straining to compete just to stay above water, and with
many individual residential customers having to decide between paying their electric
bills and buying food or prescriptions, approval of an excessively generous ROE is
very short-sighted. The last thing the Commission should do is to further inflate
(artificially I might add) energy costs which would cause even more dislocation in the

business community and increase the costs to those businesses left standing.

What is your recommendation to the Commission?

As noted above, I urge the Commission to evaluate the current economic climate and
the stable regulatory environment in which Tampa Electric operates to arrive at a
reasonable ROE. I would respectfully suggest that a fair return on equity is 7.5
percent. I further urge the Commission to temper its reliance on computer modeling

with its knowledge of the current unusual financial conditions. I recommend that the
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Commission reject any suggestion that approval of a high ROE somehow benefits
ratepayers.

Finally, I strongly urge the Commission to consider its fundamental mission,
which is to regulate utilities under its jurisdiction in the public interest. In this case,
the public interest will be served by setting Tampa Electric's revenues and rates using
a fair, compensatory rate of return on equity of 7.5%; this rate will, in my opinion,
enable Tampa Electric to attract needed capital and provide Tampa Electric's equity
stockholders with a very fair rate of return on a very low risk investment, while
minimizing further economic stress on the citizens and businesses who must buy their

electricity from the regulated monopoly provider, Tampa Electric Company.

Does this conclude your direct testimony?

Yes it does.
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CHAIRMAN CARTER: You may proceed.
MR. MOYLE: Thank you.
BY MR. MOYLE:
Q You've prepared a summary of your testimony?
A Yes, I have.
Q Would you please provide that summary to the
Commission?
A Yes. Thank you.

My name is Tom Herndon and I am testifying on behalf
of FIPUG and the Florida Retail Federation. I have experience
in finance resulting from my service as Executive Director of
the State Board of Administration, Director of the Florida
Department of Revenue, State Budget Director and a variety of
other professional positions. In addition, during the time
that I spent as Executive\Director of the State Board of
Administration we managed approximately $100 billion in pension
assets. I currently also serve on boards and foundations that
have assets that are actively managed.

My testimony can be summarized into three major
points. First, the Commission should adopt an ROE of
7.5 percent as opposed to the 12 percent requested by the
company. My reasoning for this recommendation is as follows.
TECO is a monopoly provider of electricity and not subject to
any market-based competition. Thereby, eliminating competition

is one of the risk factors that might conceivably support such
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an exorbitant request.

Secondly, interest rates are at all time low and
market conditions argue in favor of access to capital and more
reasonable returns on equity for investors.

Thirdly, because of a stable consumer, customer base
and Commission-authorized pass-through of costs like fuel and
others through cost recovery clauses over 50 percent of TECO's
annual revenues are virtually guaranteed, thereby making an
investment in TECO a very low-risk proposition for investors.

Fourthly, utility stocks have performed much better
on average than the Dow, S&P 500 or the NASDAQ over the past
years, bolstering the argument that they are a higher quality,
more desirable investment for lenders and investors. Tampa
Electric should be able to access capital markets with little
difficulty given its history and the regulatory climate in

which it operates.

Finally, state pension fund and pension fund accounts
that TECO manages for its employees do not anticipate such a
high ROE as that being sought in this case by Tampa Electric.
If they do not anticipate and are not investing with an eye
toward earning that much for investors, why should the
Commission build into their base rates such a high return for
investors in their stock or debt?

My second point is that statistical models such as

CAPM and DCF are useful aids in calculating return expectations
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but they are not the sole determinants of reasonable return.
Overall market and economic realities play a significant role
in these decisions and common sense should not be ignored just
because someone trots out a mathematical formula, especially
one that is based on factors that are no longer valid.

Your decision about the return on equity is not a
matter of artificial rule, models or formulas, but should be
based on reasonable judgment based on consideration of all
relevant facts. The Commission should pay particular attention
to current market conditions which do not support an equity
return of 12 percent. My judgment is that a return of 7 to
8 percent with a midpoint of 7.5 is appropriate.

My third and final point is that TECO should not be
allowed to earn excessively high rates of return based on the
premise that it will somehow help the taxpayer. TECO bases its
argument in favor of an artificially high rate of return on the
supposed benefits of easier access to capital and a higher
credit rating, thereby lowering borrowing costs.

My response is to say as follows: First, good
companies like TECO will have access to capital markets. We
have seen as recently as December that TECO was able to extend
a credit facility with no difficulty that I could discern
whatsoever.

Secondly, neither TECO nor its witnesses can

guarantee that a high credit rating, a higher credit rating
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will automatically result from a 12 percent ROE, which seems to
be the chief reason why they're seeking the 12 percent figure.

Thirdly, TECO is seeking a high return on equity now
that will increase rates to customers. They will see higher
bills this summer. Customers will not see lower borrowing
costs until the next rate case, which could be many years down
the road. Also, future lower borrowing costs for the utility
would not likely outweigh the higher rates that customers would
have to pay immediately if higher rates are approved. An ROE
of 12 percent will cost the customers much more in the long run
than if they were authorized 7.5 percent and borrowed the
needed capital at their current credit, credit rating level.

In closing, TECO's request for a 12 percent ROE is
neither justified nor warranted by the facts or the arguments
put forth by the company. The customers in TECO's service area
should not be forced to pay an exorbitant ROE and further
stress their family and business circumstances in this time of
severe recession. In today's difficult economic environment a
more appropriate return on equity is in the 7 to 8 percent
range, and the Commission should be confident that Tampa
Electric or TECO can raise adequate capital if the Commission
sets the company's rates using an ROE in that range.

And, Mr. Chairman, before I close, I'd just like to
thank you for the courtesy extended to me last night to allow

me to go to the board meeting. Thank you.
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CHAIRMAN CARTER: Thank you, Mr. Herndon. Even with
your courtesy comment you still came in under five minutes.
Perfect timing.

THE WITNESS: That's good.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Excellent.

Let's hear from the company. Cross.

MR. HART: Mr. Chairman, we, in lieu of
cross-examination, would like to insert Mr. Herndon's
deposition into the record and ask that it be marked as an
exhibit, identified as an exhibit.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Okay. That will be -- staff, what
number are we on?

MS. HELTON: I think it's 122, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Yeah. 122.

Okay. Any objections?

MS. CHRISTENSEN: No, other than it could have been
done as part of the composite exhibit, but no objection at this
point.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Well, okay. No objection. Without
objection, show it done.

(Exhibit 122 marked for identification and admitted
into the record.)

Commissioner Skop, you're recognized.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Good morning, Mr. Herndon.
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THE WITNESS: Good morning.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Just a few questions. In your
opening statement you used "exorbitant" in two contexts, but at
least the context that I thought I heard is that you
characterized your recommended ROE of 7.5 percent as an
exorbitant request; is that correct?

THE WITNESS: No. I was talking about the 12 percent
recommended or requested by the company.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Okay. Okay. If the Commission
were to adopt a 7.5 percent ROE as you suggested, what
regulatory signal would a 400 basis point reduction send to the
capital markets?

THE WITNESS: Well, Mr. Chairman or Commissioner, I'm
not sure that -- I don't know what regulatory signal it would
send. What I think it would send to the capital markets is a
recognition of today's reality in the economic markets. I
think a 7.5 percent return is more than double the risk-free
rate in today's economic environment. It's a very reasonable
return expectation that most investors would be pleased to have
and --

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Well, let's talk about that
return expectation. You mentioned that your, your, your
analysis is based mostly in part on, on the expected return
that a state pension fund would expect to receive.

Now you would agree, would you not, that different
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investors have different goals; is that correct?

THE WITNESS: Yes, indeed.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Okay. So to the extent that a
pension fund would make an investment, they would be looking
for a conservative, very stable, risk-free investment; is that
correct?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Okay. So that would be seeking
fixed income returns?

THE WITNESS: Well, most pension funds, including
Florida's, has pretty high allocation to equities. So they
have expectations of returns that are driven to some degree by
risk.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: But when you mention pension
fund, I mean, it's typically a fixed income looking investment,
is that correct, for the most part?

THE WITNESS: Well, there's certainly a significant
allocation to fixed income in most pension funds. Yes, sir.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Okay. With respect to the
recommended 7.5 percent ROE, would such action by the
Commission result in the potential of an immediate credit
downgrade to the utility with such an extreme measure?

THE WITNESS: I don't think anybody can give you a
clear-cut answer to that question. I don't think that the

company's witnesses can with confidence guarantee that a
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12 percent return would give you, you know, a higher rating and
I don't think that's --

COMMISSIONER SKOP: That's not my question. I'm not
asking about what the company is seeking. I'm asking about
what you've provided as an expert witness. And I'm asking in
your professional opinion whether a 400 basis point reduction
by this Commission adopting the requested 7.5 percent ROE could
result in an immediate credit downgrade by the rating agencies.

THE WITNESS: Commissioner, I guess the only honest
answer to your question is that anything could happen. But if
I might go further.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: You might. That's fine.

THE WITNESS: Okay. I don't, I don't think that's
very likely, to be perfectly honest. And I'm not sure that a
downgrade by the credit rating agencies has as much
significance as that action might have once had. I think
investors are a great deal more skeptical about the credit
rating agencies than they may have once been. But certainly
that's a possibility and I would be naive to deny it.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Okay. Well, let's go back a
second for the institutional investors. I think that you
mentioned that pension funds and other investors make equity
investments, investments in equities in addition to, to fixed
income investments.

Are you familiar with GE?
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THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: And you're familiar with their
bond ratings, credit ratings?

THE WITNESS: I don't know what it is today, but I'm
generally familiar with the company.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: So you would not know with your
professional experience what GE's credit or bond ratings would
be?

THE WITNESS: I don't off the top of my head.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Okay. Are you familiar with the
investment that Berkshire Hathaway just recently made in GE to
the extent that they purchased preferred stock?

THE WITNESS: I'm aware that they did come in with a
pretty significant investment and, as you said, got preferred
stock.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: And are you familiar with the
yield that was --

THE WITNESS: I don't recall. No, sir. I'm sorry.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Subject to check, would you
generally agree that there was a double-digit return or yield
that they sought from making that equity investment?

THE WITNESS: Subject to check, yes.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: All right. Thank you. Just one
final question. I guess Mr. Moyle asked a line of -- sorry.

Excuse me. I'm sorry. Mr. Moyle had asked a line of questions
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to a prior witness suggesting that in lieu of traditional CAPM
and DCF models that a more appropriate benchmark for the
Commission to consider would be a recent rate case in terms of
the authorized returns for the southeastern region. And in
that regard, I'd like to get your thoughts on whether that
would be appropriate. And too, secondly, the returns that were
suggested that the Commission consider are significantly higher
than your recommended return by almost 350 basis points, so I'd
like to get some comment on that.

THE WITNESS: I'm not familiar with the specifics
that Mr. Moyle proposed to another witness. But just following
your thought for a moment, I think the Commission should weigh
very carefully the information that is relevant coming out of
other southeastern rate cases. Every company is different,
every Commission is different, every state is different, every
set of operating circumstances is different. You should take
that into consideration, just as you should take into
consideration CAPM and DCF models. They have some value. They
also have some flaws. You know, you should also take into
consideration the evidence that's all around us as it relates
to the market and how it's functioning, and that's all I've
been arguing is that the Commission should weigh all of these
factors very carefully when you make a decision.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Anything further from the bench at
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this time?

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: Yes.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Commissioner Argenziano, you're
recognized.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: I'll wait.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Okay. You'll wait.

Okay. Ms. Christensen.

MS. CHRISTENSEN: Good morning.

THE WITNESS: Good morning.

MS. CHRISTENSEN: I have a few questions for

Mr. Herndon.

CROSS EXAMINATION
BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:
Q Mr. Herndon, you would consider yourself an

institutional investor; is that how you would consider

yourself?

A Yes. 1In a sense -- certainly the SBA when I was
there was a very large institutional investor, one of the
largest in the world. Today the foundations that I'm involved

with are institutional in nature. They're not individuals.

Yes.
Q Okay. So you yourself are not coming at this from a
financing, modeling, DCF and CAPM perspective; is that correct?
A I'm not what in Wall Street vernacular is called a

quantitative analyst, no. I'm much more of a broad-based
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observer of the markets and have a certain modicum of financial

expertise.
Q And I think you've testified today that you think or

as an institutional investor your expectation is a 7 to

8 percent range; correct?

A Expectation is probably where I would, would quibble
with you. I'm not sure that my expectation is that. But I
think a 7 to 8 percent return on equity is a reasonable return
on equity.

0 Okay. Would you as an institutional investor
recommend to your clients that they invest in an electric
utility if they had an ROE of 8.75 percent?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Now you would agree that Tampa Electric is a
monopoly; correct?

A Yes.

Q And as a monopoly, in your opinion is Tampa Electric
a safe and reliable investment?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And I think you may have touched on this
earlier, but I just want to make sure that I'm clear. As a
person who makes decisions for institutions on whether or not
to invest, do you use credit agency reports in the

determination of whether or not to invest in certain companies

or stocks and bonds?
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A Yes.
Q Okay.
A And if I might.

Q Certainly.

A There's no question that the credit rating agencies
do a good job for investors. I think we probably are in an
environment where their reliability is less pervasive than it
once was, but they're still valuable inputs.

Q Okay.

MR. HART: Mr. Chairman, we are -- we think we've
been very patient, but this is extremely friendly cross. 1It's
putting in additional direct testimony, and the questions are
not adverse to Mr. Herndon's position.

MS. CHRISTENSEN: May I be heard on this?

First of all, I'm trying to flesh out some discussion
that was presented by their testimony -- their witness in
cross-examination of this witness which he did not address in
his testimony because it was only presented live here during
the hearing. And I think that I'm not asking additional direct
testimony. This is not beyond the scope of his testimony. He
does talk about credit agencies, he did in the opening
statement. So it's not beyond the scope and it's asking him to
comment on testimony that was elicited here at the hearing for
which he has not had an opportunity. And, moreover, our

positions are not exactly aligned. I don't know that there's
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any legitimate objection.
CHAIRMAN CARTER: Tread lightly.
MS. CHRISTENSEN: I only have a few more questions.
CHAIRMAN CARTER: You may proceed.

MS. CHRISTENSEN: And if you grant me just a few more

CHAIRMAN CARTER: You may proceed.
MS. CHRISTENSEN: Thank you.

BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:

Q Okay. Is S&P, Fitch and Moody's the only information
you rely on as an institutional investor?

A No.

Q Okay. And do you know -- or let me ask you this.

How much does whether an electric utility is a triple B rated
company versus a single A company impact your decision on
whether or not to make an investment in a company?

A The distinction between those two ratings is a data
point that you should take into consideration, but in and of
itself it's not that critical. 1It's another factor in the
overall assessment, but in and of itself it's not that
critical.

Q Okay. So that would not, in your opinion, deny Tampa
Electric access to the capital markets or an institutional
investor whether they're a single A or a triple B?

A I don't think that the existence of one rating or the
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other is going to weigh on whether they can access the capital
markets. No.

MS. CHRISTENSEN: I have no further questions.

CHATRMAN CARTER: Thank you.

Ms. Bradley.

MS. BRADLEY: Ms. Christensen covered them. Thank
you.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Thank you.

Mr. Wright.

MR. WRIGHT: Mr. Chairman, thank you. But
Mr. Herndon is also my witness, so I don't have any, any
questions for him on cross.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Good deal.

Mr. Twomey.

MR. TWOMEY: No questions.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Okay. Commissioners, I'm going
to -- Commissioner Argenziano.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: Thank you.

Mr. Herndon, I've been trying to familiarize myself
with CAPM models and the DCF, and I've said it here the last
couple of days that it seems to me that those two models, as
you said before, have some value, but they also have, I guess,
some negatives to look at. And the negative I see is that they
seem so subjective; that one could put the inputs in any

direction they wanted to, have a particular outcome, and it
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could inflate or -- am I, am I correct in that assumption? Do
you, do you see it as subjective? And, and then -- and I've
asked this question too and I'll ask it again, if beta has no
predictive value, how would that affect the CAPM outcome?

THE WITNESS: Let me try and answer your question
this way, if I might, Commissioner.

Once you select the data that you wish to use in your
formula, the formula functions mathematically in a fairly
precise way. It produces a result, but it's a result that's
driven very strongly by the information that you use, the
currency of that information, the relevance of that information
in the marketplace that you happen to be functioning in and so
forth. So I don't wish to suggest that, that it's merely a
subjective use of data that may or may not be precisely on
point because it's not quite that simple.

But having said that, both models and all of the
formulas for that matter that are available out there in the
investing world can be interpreted a number of different ways.
And I guess that's part of my concern here is that the
Commission is being asked to consider these models and these
formulas as if they were gospel, and they're just simply not.
They're data points that you should take into consideration and
you should give them the credence that they deserve, and that
ultimately is in the eyes of each of you.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: Well, that's, that's
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interesting, very interesting. Because if you can do that --
and I found that in life that any time you have three or four
ways to, to get somewhere, if, if you can, if the input or how
you place the input or what you place into that could change
the outcome drastically to one side or the other, personally I
don't find that valuable. I like to get to something and say
this is, this is how we get there and not manipulate it in any
way .

So what I'm getting from that then is that all the
methods are, are in my opinion questionable to get the outcome.
I understand how they're used, but I still have a hard time
understanding the inputs and how, how they get to that, to that
outcome. With that said, let me go through some of your
testimony. Just bear with me a second.

Let me ask you, investors today in this economic
climate, in your opinion what do you think they would be
looking for? And, you know, I'm looking at both sides of
things, but I just put myself in that place and figure if I was
the investor, what would I look for? And I'd like to know in
your opinion what you think is a, I mean, a place where
investors would want to go. How they would, you know, look at
today's market and say, you know, I want to invest but I'm not
going to invest here because I'm not sure, I'm going to invest
here because I'm sure, or here because I'm taking a chance, and

I guess they're taking a chance on everything.
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But what, what do you think, I guess, of a utility
stock, a Florida utility stock in today's market? Do you think
it's a safe bet or a safer bet than most stocks out there? 1Is
it a good place to invest?

THE WITNESS: Let me try and answer a couple of your
questions, if I might, by saying that I think investors first
and foremost in today's market want safety. They're willing to
trade a little bit of return for sleeping at night.

Secondly, I think depending on your appetite for risk
you can always take on more of a gamble if that's your
preference. But if you look at the utilities that function in
Florida, I think you can rest very comfortably on the basis
that they are safe and secure. They're not going to pay
perhaps quite the dividend or the appreciation as a high-flying
company might, but they're also less risky and it allows you to
sleep a little bit better at night, and I think that's what
investors are looking for.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: You -- what method did you
use in calculating the ROE?

THE WITNESS: Well, this was a question that was
asked of me earlier. The truth of the matter is I don't have a
canned formula for calculating an ROE. What I tried to do was
to look at the presentations and the testimony of the witnesses
that were put on by the company to weigh as carefully as I

could the models that they used, the information that they were
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using to feed those models to look at my day-to-day experiences
in the financial markets and reading and analyzing what is
going on. Also to try and factor in the market conditions that
we're all faced with in today's environment, including at the
time the likelihood that some sort of fairly significant
congressional bailout would pass and so on and so forth.

So all of those things went into ultimately
concluding that a range of 7 to 8 percent would be acceptable
to most investors, given the nature of the investment that they
were making. If it was a, as I said, a much more high-flying
company, then perhaps that would not be a sufficient return.
But given that it's a secure, stable, long history, monopoly,
noncompetitive company, that that was a reasonable return.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: And how significant should
a risk be in factoring a company's, a utility's ROE, since you
mentioned risk?

THE WITNESS: I'm not exactly sure how to answer.
And when you say risk --

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: Well, how do you factor
in -- if I'm Company A who has far more risk, there's no
guarantee of a revenue return, and then a company that has a
guarantee of a revenue return, which one is, you know, which
one weighs more in factoring in an ROE?

THE WITNESS: Any time you take on risk you should be

compensated for it. The more risk you take on, the more you
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should be compensated for it. That's a very fundamental
premise of investing.

In this case you have a company that although
certainly exposed to risks such as hurricanes and so on and so
forth is also, I don't wish to overstate this word, but it's
also protected to a certain degree from those risks through a
very solid regulatory environment, you know, a noncompetitive
geographic territory, you know, Commission decisions that
authorize pass-throughs for a number of factors that are in the
overall base rate. So the company has a lower risk profile
than many, many, many others and you would expect a lower
return.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: In your testimony --
there's a couple of other questions I want to ask. In your
testimony, I think in your direct the question was asked, some
have suggested that allowing -- I know you spoke to this
before, but I want to speak about it until I get a really good
understanding. And they, the question was some have suggested
that allowing Tampa Electric a 12 percent ROE may benefit
ratepayers by lowering borrowing costs, and they asked do you
agree. And I really want to understand that.

And your, part of your answer was any reduction in
borrowing costs would likely be a slight incremental amount and
would not offset the increased revenue requirements for

ratepayers if a 12 ROE were to be authorized. And then you
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further say that customers would be worse off because they
would be paying higher rates than necessary. Could you go over
that again and tell me why you feel that way?

THE WITNESS: I guess the first thing I would, would
say is that Tampa Electric at least in part is requesting an
ROE of 12 percent in order to obtain a higher credit rating
from the credit rating agencies. Their argument is that their
triple B rating today is not sufficient to give them good
access to capital and access to capital at a better rate, a
lower cost.

I don't agree with their conclusion in the sense
that, number one, I think they have reasonable access to
capital. I think the company has shown that throughout its
history. I think we're also aware that utility companies by
and large were very successful in accessing capital throughout
2008; one of the most successful industries, if you will, of
any of the industries in terms of accessing capital. So I
don't accept that premise, number one.

Number two, if we accept the premise that they will
get a higher rating, the cost to them that might result is only
going to be marginally lower. It's not going to drop in a
dramatic fashion. And as a consequence, I think what you're
faced with is the reality that customers are going to pay a
much higher rate for their electric service for several years

until Tampa Electric comes back in for another rate case, at
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which point they're going to then adjust their rates to reflect
that lower cost of borrowing that they got as a result of this
rate case.

So what you have is a period of -- I heard one
witness say they're going to be back in within five years. You
know, I don't know.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: We don't know.

THE WITNESS: But let's say five years, maybe it's 16
like it was in this instance, that customers will pay a rate
based on a 12 percent ROE. And in order to do that, they're
going to -- the result of that is that they're going to get a
marginally lower borrowing cost, maybe, you know, a half a
percent or something on that order, maybe a little bit more
depending on what they ultimately get.

So, you know, in my mind it's just not good economics
to, to authorize that much of a, of a benefit on the front end
in the anticipation of some undecided, unclear, unlikely
outcome.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: So basically what you're
saying is that the customers -- the benefit that the company
will receive doesn't outweigh the cost to the customers. 1It's
going to cost the customers a lot more to get a small little
benefit for the company; is that right? I don't want to put
words in --

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am.
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COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: Okay. And you had
mentioned that the southeastern states in rate cases I think
indicating that they have been resolved or have been granted
different ROEs. Could you elaborate on what you meant on the
southeastern rate cases?

THE WITNESS: Well, I'm sorry, Commissioner. I was
really responding to Commissioner Skop's question about the
rate cases that were settled in the southeast. I'm not
familiar with --

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: Okay.

THE WITNESS: -- what they are. But I've always been
a little reluctant to, you know, have a kind of follow the
heard mentality here. I mean, the fact that Alabama may have
settled a rate case is interesting and it's something that you
should be aware of certainly. But does that mean that you
should do it because Alabama did it? No, I don't think so. I
mean, it's something you should take into consideration but
that's all.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: Okay. I tend to agree with
not going along with the herd mentality sometimes too. I think
I've got a reputation for that: Sometimes right, sometimes
wrong.

Also in your testimony and I think it was in
Ms. Abbott's testimony also that Florida's regulatory

environment is very, very, viewed very favorable. And as a
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matter of fact, as one of the -- ranked most favorably, I
guess, is the ranking that the Florida regulatory scheme has.
And could you tell me how that weighs in on the company,
allowing the company to access capital?

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am. It in a, in a phrase
reduces risk and makes the company a better investment with a

lower expectation of return.

If you are in -- if you are an electric company in an
environment where the Commission that regulates you is perverse
and undisciplined and subject to all kinds of erratic
decisions, that increases risk. But that's not the environment
that Tampa Electric or any of the regulated utilities find
themselves in in Florida. This is a very solid Commission with
a long history of progressive regulation and that's reflected
in their lower risks.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: Bear with me one minute,

Mr. Chair. I think I have another question, if I could find

Wthe page. Well, while I'm finding it, I have thought of

wanother question.

would be the national average is -- I don't know if I'm right.
I think it was 10.5 percent. Does that sound right to anybody?
The national average I think was, give or take, subject to
correction, 10.5 percent. And if the company was granted a

lower ROE as you suggest, 7.5, would that take them out of the
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competition, so to speak?

THE WITNESS: It would undoubtedly take them out of
the competition in the eyes of some investors.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: Uh-huh.

THE WITNESS: But bear in mind that investors are,
pardon me, looking to those higher returns because they have
higher risk. So their risk appetite is perhaps a little bit
more voracious than you or I might be.

I would be very comfortable with a rate of return of
7.5 or 8 percent given the low-risk nature of Tampa Electric
and the utilities in Florida. Somebody else might want a
higher return but they're willing to gamble.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: One second, Mr. Chair.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: No problem. Commissioner, if you
want, I can go to staff and then come back to you.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: Yes. That would be great.
Thank you.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Why don't we do that.

Can we get -- hang on a second. Let me see. Do you
need some water?

THE WITNESS: I've got some.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Okay. Good.

Commissioner Skop.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Herndon, I just wanted to follow along to -- just
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one additional question that I did not get to before.

But going back to the -- again, different
institutional investors have different goals. Some are looking
for, you know, preservation of the investment and dividend
growth and others are looking for aggressive growth and have
more risk appetite.

But with respect to GE, I guess the, the investment,
at least my recollection, that Berkshire Hathaway and Warren
Buffet made in GE recently, I think it was in October 2008, was
a $3 billion, $3 billion investment in preferred stock with a
10 percent dividend. And I think that I had asked if you knew
what the credit rating of GE, which is a blue chip company,
was, and you did not know. But subject to check, would you
agree that for all practical purposes it's a triple A rating?

THE WITNESS: Certainly, Commissioner. Subject to
check, I would agree with you.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Okay. So I guess generally
speaking, and I don't want this to be construed in any way,
form or fashion that I'm in support of a higher ROE or anything
like that, but I'm just trying to, to put out a scenario to
illustrate today's capital markets. But if Berkshire Hathaway
were making a capital or equity investment in a triple A rated
company yielding a 10 percent return, would it not be
reasonable to expect that if Berkshire Hathaway were making the

same investment in a triple B rated company, that that return
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would be incrementally higher? I'm not saying how much higher,
but some increment. Would you generally accept that premise?

THE WITNESS: I would generally accept that premise
with the caveat that I would like very much to understand what
was going on behind the scenes.

If I might, Commissioner, I don't recall the
specifics of that particular investment, but I do recall that
it was a, an arrangement that General Electric negotiated
almost directly behind the scenes with Berkshire Hathaway. And
my suspicion is that there was a great deal more there than met
the eye. They went directly to Berkshire Hathaway, I suspect,
because they needed help, and to get that help they had to pay
for it.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: No. Absolutely. And, again,
institutional investors have much more benefits available to
them than the individual poor souls of investors that we are.
You know, I wish I could make the deals that, or get the deals
they get.

But, again, what I'm trying to illustrate is that,
and this goes to Commissioner Argenziano's question, that there
is some incremental difference in terms of the credit rating,
and so I'm trying to kind of flesh that out. Because, again,
the returns right now, the markets are in a state of flux and
rate setting in today's economic environment is difficult at

best. I mean, as you mentioned, the Commission has a rich
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history of and is well recognized nationally as being one of
the best regulatory bodies in the state. But we also need to
look out for our consumers, so that's factoring into the
discussions and the full vetting that we're having.

With respect to one other point that you touched upon
with the premise, and I think that Commissioner Argenziano
touched upon this, about the notion that if a company has a
higher credit rating, that essentially consumers would be
paying more for that credit rating than they would gain by the
lower borrowing costs. Would that necessarily be -- I mean, I
tend to think that that has some merit to some degree, but
would that necessarily hold true if a company were taking on a
large capital project or a large capital undertaking to the
extent that if you start to incur, if you started to incur
large, a large amount of debt, at some point that lower
borrowing cost -- and the reason I'm trying to put this into
perspective is that some of the investments that this
Commission approves are billions of dollars. And so when, when
you look at millions or, you know, a fraction of a million
versus the billion, I mean, kind of do the math, but a half a
percent on a billion dollars, I think I could retire today.

But I just wanted to get your perspective. At some point would
there be, depending upon what happens in terms of capital
projects, could there be a net benefit to the ratepayer?

For instance, if somebody were to, to -- you know, we
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have nuclear in Florida. I mean, half a percent on the
borrowing costs on a nuclear reactor I think would probably
more than outweigh -- you know, the, the borrowing costs, the
savings and the borrowing costs would more than outweigh the
additional incremental costs to the consumer. Would you, could
you comment on that?

THE WITNESS: I think you're probably right that
there's a, there's a flex point out there somewhere. I'm not
sure exactly where it is. I think certainly the scale of the
project or the scale of the investments is a factor.

I suspect the biggest issue though is the spread, you
know, the spread between that increased or increasing credit
rating, lowering of borrowing costs, whatever that spread is I
expect is the real tipping point there. And I just don't think
that in this case we're talking about a dramatic enough change.
I think this is a marginal change here that we're talking
about, and in that context I suspect it doesn't quite rise to
that level. But I think you're right theoretically.
Absolutely.

COMMISSIONER SKOP: Okay. Well, I appreciate your
insight on this. Thank you so much.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: Mr. Chair.

CHAIRMAN CARTER: Commissioner Argenziano.

COMMISSIONER ARGENZIANO: I think I've got it. I

probably later will think of a whole bunch of other questions.
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I went through your testimony, as I did other
witnesses', and found some things that were very interesting to
me, and I did a little bit more homework on them and derived
some questions. But really I think what it comes down to for
me and I guess what Commissioner Skop said basically on large
capital projects that some of the companies are entering into,
but I also have to look at legislation that's passed that
basically says that on those large projects you pretty much can
recover everything. And I go back to risk. And if you can
recover everything, if I -- and correct me if I'm wrong because
I'm kind of going to ask a question here -- I'm looking at
investors and then I'm looking at those who loan the money to
the companies. You want to keep the companies healthy, you
want to keep them in the State of Florida, also want to make
sure that the ratepayers don't suffer the consequences of bad
decisions.

But if I'm an investor, I'm looking, and I want less
risk because, Commissioner Skop had said before, you know, the
return may be higher for some companies, but I also look and
say the risk may be higher too. So in this kind of climate
today I would think that a lot of investors are saying there's
a lot of risk out there. I mean, GE is one that may be going
out of business any day. But, so I'm looking for safety. I'm
looking for less risk. Maybe the return is not quite as high,

but the investor would look to a company or, or some type of
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investment that had less risk. And if, even if there are these
big projects, if you have recovery clauses that say, even if
you can recover down the line, isn't that still a safe, safer
place for investors to go-?

And on the second part of that question is those who
loan the money, and I'm getting back to the A and the triple B
because I'm starting to understand -- I think what you're
saying is it's not that much of a difference between the two
when it comes to acquiring the capital that you need from the,
from the borrowers, I mean, from the loaners.

But from the perspective of those who loan the money,
wouldn't those same features play or be part of the play and
say, well, you know, I'm going to look at this company that's
still investor, what do you call it, investor grade, is that
the term, that's still investor grade and has a regulatory
scheme that is the most favorable in the nation, don't they
look at those factors too with the risk and say that, you know,
who am I going to loan the money to, the GE, who may be going
out of business today that has the higher return, or am I going
to loan it to a company that has a guaranteed return that's not
unhealthy and has less risk? And I know that's kind of a,
sounds like a simple question, but does it work that way with
those who loan the money?

THE WITNESS: Absolutely. Institutional investors

and I suspect most personal investors want to have a certain
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amount of their portfolio, however large it might be, as kind
of solid as bedrock. They want to be able to put it there, not
have to worry about it, expect it to give them a fair return in
the market that they happen to be in but not take undue risk.
And so they build in that, that bedrock there. That's the part
that anchors you to the wind in, in case future hurricanes come
along. So, yes, you're absolutely right. I mean, lenders,
whether it's, you know, Citibank or Bank of America or whoever
it is, are constructing their portfolios with that thought in
mind.

As far as the pass-through and recovery clauses and
so forth are concerned, I couldn't agree with you more. And
make that point that I think that's part of what gives in this
case the company a, a sound regulatory environment is that the
Commission has recognized that those pass-throughs are
appropriate. And I realize that <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>